

Literature Review Executive Summary

Transition Programs for People with Intellectual and/or Developmental Disabilities

Areas for Improvement and Strategies for Success

Executive Summary

A key finding of this review was that most of the research available on the transition from PSE to decent work focuses on people with intellectual and/or developmental disabilities (IDD). There are multiple benefits of hiring employees with IDD, including higher work retention rate, improved workplace safety, increased awareness of IDD, elevated positivity in workplaces, stronger interpersonal environments and cooperative cultures, and more inclusivity in workplace practices (Readhead & Owen, 2020). Yet, people with IDD tend to have the lowest job outcomes among people with disabilities in North America. For example, in Canada, the rate of employment for people with IDD was 26% compared to a 52% employment rate for people with other disabilities (Crawford, 2011). Continuing this research and further improving transition programs for people with IDD is important. Our review identified different types of programs available for people with IDD and outlined both the positives and the negative aspects of the programs currently available.

Some of the key areas for improvement for the transition programs we outlined were issues with siloed/independent support services, need for enhanced wrap-around services, and unclear measures of success. We also found a lack of transparency about outcome measures in employment issues. Following Ryan et al (2019), we recommend more transparency from transition program facilitators to provide people with IDD with the information they need to choose the best programs which cater to their interests and abilities. (Ryan et al., 2019). We realize that transition programs can also be expensive and resource intensive—as such, programs should be consistently evaluating their progress to ensure they are effective by meeting the needs of the people they support. Finally, but perhaps most importantly, there is a research gap in accounting for the perspectives of people with IDD in the literature on employment outcomes for people with IDD.

This review outlines the lack of perspectives of people with disabilities, and this is especially true for people with IDD. Very few authors in our review consulted people with IDD directly about their experiences; instead, most authors engage with their family members, case managers, and support staff. The lived experience of people with IDD should be prioritized in research and future studies should engage meaningfully with this group through methods such as interviews and focus groups. Further research may also balance the perspectives of people with IDD and the perspectives from support workers and families.

Currently, supported education and supported employment are separate services that often do not communicate well with each other. This leads to uncoordinated care and an inability to adapt to the changing goals and priorities of people with IDD (Maru et al., 2018). More collaboration and integration between these services could reduce strain on the individuals involved. One study, in fact, found that collaboration between service providers can lead to better mental health, more self-efficacy, and increased engagement with people with IDD (Maru et al., 2018)

While self-determination is important for successful transition from PSE to decent work, it is often the only measure used when evaluating transition programs. Many authors in our review uncritically used the concept of self-determination as the *only* measure of success in their studies without considering its effectiveness. While self-determination is an important predictor of success, more research should consider it alongside other important measures, including, knowledge of workplace rights, high expectations from stakeholders, and multicultural competency (Wlczenski et al., 2017).

Some key strategies for success for transition programs for people with IDD are peer mentorship, resources and support, consistent and long-term planning, support from employers, and

Commented [EW1]: I think the rate is about 15% for people with IDD, right? Lets add this-- helps build our case! The average for PWD more generally is around 50%. We can cite People First of Canada, CCD, etc. They have all reported similar numbers.

Commented [OC2R1]: I will keep looking but I am just having trouble finding that statistic, if you could send me the resource that would be great. Thanks!

Commented [EW3R1]: Stienstra, Deborah. *About Canada: Disability Rights*. Winnipeg: Fernwood Publishing, 2012.

[Persons with disabilities and employment \(statcan.gc.ca\)](https://www24.statcan.gc.ca/nom/en/other-reports/other-reports/98-625-x/00001-eng)

These two references outline employment rates. I think this is all we need!

Commented [OC4R1]: Thanks so much, I had some trouble with the resources you suggested but I found a source (that happens to be Cam) that laid it out pretty well. Let me know if that works!

increased support for neurodiversity. Mentorship has been noted as a key strategy in transition from PSE to decent work more broadly, and our review found that peer support can be especially useful for people with IDD. Peer mentors can ease the transition to PSE, help develop soft and social skills, and may help with PSE completion rates (Sullivan, 2016; Thompson et al., 2018). Social skills and soft skills are also a significant predictor of both academic and employment success (Nasamran et al., 2017).

Ensuring that people with IDD have the resources and support they need to succeed is one of the most basic ways to help with the transition from PSE to decent work. Support services are often underfunded and lack the capacity for individualized support (Lindsay et al., 2017). One article from the US found that higher spending on vocational rehabilitation (VR) services lead to higher likelihood of employment for people with IDD (Sannicandro et al., 2018). Further, support from family and friends who have high expectations of people with IDD and the supports they receive have been shown to impact successful transitions (Kelley & Prohn, 2019).

Many articles stressed the importance of transition planning starting early in life, as early as elementary school. Since many predictors of success are linked to opportunities early in life, such as early work opportunities, it can be beneficial to start planning from a young age (Lindsay et al., 2017; Wilczenski et al., 2017). Further, employers can provide support through internships, apprenticeships, and placement opportunities for students with IDD. To enhance transition success, employers may ensure that these opportunities are accessible for people with IDD and that the appropriate accommodations are in place to make their workplaces are safe environments for all people with disabilities.

Finally, more research should consider the neurodiversity movement (NDM) when engaging with people with IDD. While many articles focused on IDD, very few used the language used by neurodivergent or neurodiverse communities. These terms align with the social model of disability because the concept of neurodiversity suggests that there are different neurotypes resulting in behavioral and communicative differences that are often considered “disorders” by the mainstream (Singer, 1999). Future research should consider the NDM, and workplaces should work on accommodating different neurotypes to make their workspaces more inclusive (Mellifont, 2021).

These findings are drawn from research Eviance recently completed in collaboration with its partners at Toronto Metropolitan University, OCADU, St. Francis Xavier University, and ARCH Disability Law Centre.

Recommendations

- Future research should:
 - Prioritize the lived experience of people with IDD
 - Use multiple tested methods when evaluating the efficacy of transition programs
 - Consider using language that doesn't rely on the medical model of disability, specifically the terms neurodivergence and neurodiversity
- Programs should work to better serve people with IDD, including:
 - Collaboration between support education and supported employment units
 - Provide transparent information about their success rates and efficacy
 - Collaboration with employers to provide accessible internship and placement opportunities
 - Ensure people with IDD have the support and resources they need to succeed and help provide long-term sustainable transition planning

References

- Cocks, E., Thoresen, S. H., & Lee, E. A. L. (2015). Pathways to Employment and Quality of Life for Apprenticeship and Traineeship Graduates with Disabilities. *International Journal of Disability, Development and Education*, 62(4), 422–437. <https://doi.org/10.1080/1034912X.2015.1025714>
- Crawford, Cameron (2011). The employment of people with intellectual disabilities in Canada: A statistical profile. Toronto: Institute for Research and Development on Inclusion and Society (IRIS). 1-39.
- Kelley, K. R., & Prohn, S. M. (2019). Postsecondary and Employment Expectations of Families and Students with Intellectual Disability. *Journal of Inclusive Postsecondary Education*, 1(1), 1-14.
- Lindsay, S., McPherson, A. C., & Maxwell, J. (2017). Perspectives of school-work transitions among youth with spina bifida, their parents and health care providers. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 39(7), 641–652. <https://doi.org/10.3109/09638288.2016.1153161>
- Maru, M., Rogers, E. S., Hutchinson, D., & Shappell, H. (2018). An Integrated Supported Employment and Education Model: Exploratory Study of an Innovative Approach Designed to Better Meet the Needs of Young Adults with Psychiatric Conditions. *Journal of Behavioral Health Services & Research*, 45(3), 489–498.
- Mellifont, D. (2021). COVID-19 related factors affecting the experiences of neurodivergent persons in the workplace: A rapid review. *Work*, 71(1), 3-12. DOI:10.3233/WOR-210811.
- Nasamran, A., Witmer, S. E., & Los, J. E. (2017). Exploring Predictors of Postsecondary Outcomes for Students with Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Education and Training in Autism and Developmental Disabilities*, 52(4), 343–356.
- Petcu, S. D., & Chezan, L. C. (2015). Employment Support Services for Students with Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities Attending Postsecondary Education Programs. *Journal of Postsecondary Education and Disability*, 28(3), 359-374.
- Readhead, A., & Owen, F. (2020). Employment Supports and Outcomes for Persons with Intellectual and/or Developmental Disabilities: A Review of Recent Findings. *Current Developmental Disorders Reports*, 7(3), 155–162. <https://doi.org/10.1007/s40474-020-00202->
- Ryan, J. B., Randall, K. N., Walters, E., & Morash-MacNeil, V. (2019). Employment and independent living outcomes of a mixed model post-secondary education program for young adults with intellectual disabilities. *Journal of Vocational Rehabilitation*, 50(1), 61–72. <https://doi.org.ezproxy.lib.ryerson.ca/10.3233/JVR-180988>
- Sannicandro, T., Parish, S. L., Fournier, S., Mitra, M., & Paiewonsky, M. (2018). Employment, Income, and SSI Effects of Postsecondary Education for People With Intellectual Disability. *American Journal on Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities*, 123(5), 412–425. <https://doi.org/10.1352/1944-7558-123.5.412>
- Southward, J. D., & Kyzar, K. (2017). Predictors of Competitive Employment for Students with Intellectual and/or Developmental Disabilities. *Education and Training in Autism and Developmental Disabilities*, 52(1), 26–37.
- Sullivan, A. C. (2016). Empowering students in transition. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 4. <https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2016.00211>
- Thompson, C., Falkmer, T., Evans, K., Bölte, S., & Girdler, S. (2018). A realist evaluation of peer mentoring support for university students with autism. *British Journal of Special Education*, 45(4), 412–434. <https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8578.12241>

Wilczenski, F. L., Cook, A. L., & Regal, C. P. (2017). Rethinking College: Roles for School Psychologists in Transition Planning for Students with Intellectual Disability. *Contemporary School Psychology*, 21(1), 71–79. <https://doi.org/10.1007/s40688-016-0112-z>



Our partners for this project include:



Manitoba Head Office:
330 St. Mary Avenue, Suite 300
Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada R3C 3Z5

Bureau principal au Manitoba:
330 avenue St. Mary, bureau 300
Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada R3C 3Z5

Ottawa Office:
343 Preston Street, 11th Floor
Ottawa, Ontario, Canada K1S 1N4

Bureau d'Ottawa:
343 rue Preston, 11^e étage
Ottawa, Ontario, Canada K1S 1N4

Tel/Tél: (204) 809-5954
info@eviance.ca

eviance.ca

